STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Jasper County

Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED
APR 25 2017
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

BILLY PHILLIPS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000108

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting Appellant's first statement where he was the subject of custodial interrogation and his statements were not made freely and voluntarily because the investigators diluted the Miranda warnings, Appellant thought he was required to speak with the police under the terms of his probation, and Appellant was high on marijuana and drunk?

II.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting the DNA analyst's expert testimony regarding two items on which Appellant could not be excluded as a contributor where the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, and misleading to the jury outweighed any probative value because they results were of such weak statistical significance?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 25, 2014, the Jasper County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Billy Phillips for the murder of Darius Woods (“Decedent”) and possession of weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 650.

On January 11-14, 2016, Phillips proceeded to trial before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles and a jury. R. 1. Phillips was represented by Steven Plexico, and the state was represented by assistant solicitors Mary Jones and Lenore Masser. R. 1.

The jury returned a verdict of guilty. R. 633 – 634. Judge Nettles sentenced Phillips to current terms of forty years for murder and five years for the weapons offense. R. 640.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Introduction

Appellant Phillips and Decedent were friends. R. 99, ll. 8-10. Decedent was known to sell marijuana from his home in Ridgeland, South Carolina, and carry large amounts of cash. R. 119, ll. 2-7; R. 119, ll. 20-24; R. 259, ll. 1-2; R. 305, ll. 8-25; R. 314, l. 2 – 315, l. 13; R. 320, ll. 14-15. On May 18, 2013, Decedent was shot twice with his own gun, a .38 special handgun, and died. R. 174, l. 22 – 176, l. 9; R. 518, l. 8 – 519, l. 4; R. 534, ll. 18-25. Phillips was picked up by an officer before 2:30 a.m. on May 19, 2013 and taken to the Ridgeland Police Department for questioning. R. 65, l. 25 – 67, l. 14; R. 351, ll. 12-23. Defense counsel challenged the admissibility of Phillip's first statement. R. 9 – 15; R. 45 – 53; R. 59 – 95. Phillips testified during the pre-trial suppression hearing that he was high, drunk, and thought that he was required to answer the investigators' questions because he was on probation. R. 84, l. 18 – 87, l. 24; R. 90, l. 22 – 91, l. 6.

Despite their repeated accusations, Phillips told the officers that he did not have anything to do with Woods' death and that he left him alive at approximately 9:30 p.m. He said that he was smoking marijuana in the Decedent's car while Decedent worked on fixing his tag light. Decedent had to pick up his roommate, Michelle, because she had some car trouble before and was then headed to a party in the Bluffton area at 10:00 p.m. State's Ex. 58 (DVD of Phillip's 5/19/13 Interrogation).¹ Following the Denno² hearing, the trial judge ruled that the statements were admissible, finding that Phillips was free to leave and made a knowing waiver of his

¹ State's Ex. 58 (DVD of Phillip's 5/19/13 Interrogation) is on file with this Court.

² Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

Miranda³ rights, though any references to probation, parole, or polygraphs should be redacted. R. 91, l. 14 – 95, l. 17.

Approximately one week later, on May 24, 2013, Phillips spoke with officers again. He told them he was in the car smoking marijuana outside of Woods' house on the night that Woods was killed. He saw three men approach the house. One went inside and he heard a gunshot. The men noticed Phillips in the car as they were leaving and called him by his nickname "Dee." Phillips was scared and ran. He told police that he went to Mr. Hill's house, a place where people frequently hung out, and then to his mother's house. It was because Phillips was scared of the real assailants that he lied to police initially. R. 261, ll. 12-19; R. 385, l. 1 – 391, l. 5; R. 392, l. 5 – 393, l. 3.

Though investigators did not request a buccal swab from Phillips initially, they obtained one several months later. R. 234, ll. 18-23. Of the swabs submitted for DNA testing, Phillips could not be excluded as a contributor on two samples, Phillips was excluded as a contributor on all other samples, and two samples were not sufficient for testing. According to the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division ("SLED") analyst, the statistical probability of finding an unrelated individual who could have contributed to the mixture on the gun, i.e the "random match probability," was **one in two hundred** on the swab from the handgun grip and **one in two** on the swab from Decedent's right front pants pocket. Defense counsel objected to the admission of the DNA evidence, arguing that it would be confusing and misleading to the jury and improperly shift the burden of proof to the defense. R. 37 – 44; R. 654. The trial judge ruled that it was a factual issue for the jury to decide. R. 43, ll. 7-12; R. 44, ll. 21-24.

³ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

Voluntariness of Appellant's First Statement

At the Denno hearing, the trial judge heard testimony from Christopher McIntosh, an investigator with the Ridgeland Police Department, and from David Williams and Sean Harley, the SLED investigators who conducted Phillips' interrogation. Phillips also testified. The trial judge also viewed a portion of the video of the interrogation, though it is unclear from the record exactly how much he watched. R. 9, l. 13 – 15, l. 6; R. 59, l. 13 – 91, l. 11.

McIntosh claimed that Phillips came to the Ridgeland police station voluntarily. R. 62, ll. 19-22. However, on cross-examination he admitted that Phillips was driven to the police station by an officer Long, who did not testify at the pre-trial hearing or during Phillip's trial. McIntosh could not account for what was said to Phillips or whether Phillips was given a choice not to come to the station. R. 65, l. 25 – 67, l. 19. Phillip's interrogation took place in McIntosh's office, where McIntosh advised Phillips of his Miranda rights before leaving him with the SLED agents. R. 60, l. 13 – 62, l. 6; R. 63, ll. 1-25. The video of the interrogation shows Phillips telling the officers that he was headed to Waffle House as he enters the office. The following exchange then occurs between McIntosh and Phillips:

INV. MCINTOSH: Dee, let me, um read you something real quick before we start. You know what we want to talk to you about?

PHILLIPS: Yeah, about what happened at, at Ace house.

INV. MCINTOSH: Okay. Before we talk about that, I want to read you this, okay. You have the right to remain silent. **This don't mean you're in trouble or under arrest or anything, okay. But before we talk to anybody about anything, any possible witness, we have to read this. Just, State makes us do it, okay.** You have the right to remain silent. Anything you say can and will be used against you in a court of law. You have the right to talk to a lawyer and have him present with you while you're being questioned. If you cannot afford to hire a lawyer, one will be appointed to represent you before any questioning if you wish. You

can decide that at any time to exercise these rights and not answer any questions or make any statements. Do you understand each of these rights?

PHILLIPS: Mmm-hmm.

INV. MCINTOSH: Okay. Having these rights in mind, do you wish to talk to us now?

PHILLIPS: Yeah, go ahead.

INV. MCINTOSH: Alright. Tell me what happened tonight.

State's Ex. 58 (DVD of Phillip's 5/19/13 Interrogation). McIntosh did not have Phillips sign a written waiver of rights.

Both SLED agents admitted knowing that Phillips had smoked marijuana and been drinking alcohol prior to their interrogation though they never asked him the exact amount that he consumed. The agents both claimed that Phillips did not seem impaired. Though the video of the interrogation does not show Phillips passing out drunk, he told the agents repeatedly that he had been smoking marijuana and drinking. In fact, when one of the agents said "You ain't been drunk. You high," Phillips corrected him by saying "No, I am. It's Saturday." When Phillips said that he is a happy drunk, the agent responded that he could tell. R. 69, l. 24 – 70, l. 7; R. 74, ll. 9-18; R. 76, l. 15 – 77, l. 5; R. 81, l. 6 – 83, l. 1; State's Ex. 58 (DVD of Phillip's 5/19/13 Interrogation).

Investigator Williams told Phillips that he was not under arrest when he asked and testified that Phillips was free to leave at any time. R. 71, ll. 2-7. Again, the video of the interrogation provides an accurate reflection of what transpired. It is true that the agents told Phillips that he was not under arrest, but they did not tell him that he was free to leave. In fact, when Phillips indicated that he was going to go to Waffle House since he was not under arrest, the agents told him that they were going to take him to his house to get his probation agent's

phone number first, as Phillips indicated that he would submit to a GSR test once he spoke to her. State's Ex. 58 (DVD of Phillip's 5/19/13 Interrogation).

Phillips testified that he was transported to the police station in the backseat of a police car and that he could not have gotten out of the car. R. 86, l. 21 – 87, l. 8. The officer let him out when they got to the police station and escorted back to meet with the SLED investigators. R. 87, ll. 9-17. He did not feel like he had the right to leave during their questioning. R. 87, ll. 18-24; R. 90, ll. 22-23. Prior to being picked up by the police, Phillips had consumed a few pints of alcohol at Mr. Wood's house and had smoked a total of seven or eight "blunts"⁴ throughout the day and was under the influence of those substances during his interrogation. R. 84, 20 – 85, l. 1; R. 86, ll. 14-20. During the interrogation, Phillips referenced drinking Paul Masson, a dark alcohol. State's Ex. 58 (DVD of Phillip's 5/19/13 Interrogation). If he had not been under the influence, Phillips testified that he would have requested a lawyer and not been so talkative. R. 86, ll. 14-20. Though Phillips admitted telling the agents that he was "good" and never said "I'm too high," those actions were themselves the product of his intoxication. R. 89, l. 5 – 90, l. 11. Ultimately, he spoke with the agents anyway because he thought that the terms of his probation required him to cooperate with law enforcement. R. 86, ll. 2-5.

After hearing the arguments of counsel, the trial judge ruled that Phillip's first statement was admissible. R. 91, l. 12 – 90, l. 11; R. 93, l. 12 – 95, l. 17. While the trial judge noted that Phillips was not under arrest, to the extent that there were implications of custody, he found that Phillips was given Miranda warnings and waived them. R. 93, ll. 12-17. The trial judge found that Phillips was not intoxicated based on his review of the video, in which the judge noted that

⁴ A "blunt" is a hollowed out cigar filled with marijuana. State v. Odom, 376 S.C. 330, 333 n. 1, 656 S.E.2d 748, 750 n. 1 (Ct. App. 2007).

Phillips was not unsteady on his feet, did not have slurred speech, and provided rational answers to the questions. R. 93, l. 18 – 94, l. 3. The trial judge further found that Phillips was not of tender years, had prior contacts with law enforcement, and was not of low intelligence. R. 94, ll. 4-10; R. 94, ll. 24-25. The trial judge placed specific emphasis on the fact that it was not intoxication that caused Phillips to speak with law enforcement, but rather because his probation required him to do so. Notably, Phillips asked to speak with his probation agent several times. R. 94, ll. 9-18. The trial judge further found that the interrogation was “only an hour-and-a-half,” Phillips was not denied food or breaks, and there were no threats made to him. R. 94, l. 25 – 95, l. 5. Based on that, the trial judge ruled that statement was voluntary and admissible. R. 95, ll. 2-17.

Varied Accounts of April 18, 2013

It was undisputed that Phillips was in and out of Decedent’s home throughout the day on Saturday, April 18, 2013. Reginald Green testified that the day prior, he and Phillips were at Decedent’s house playing games on Phillip’s PlayStation videogame console. When Phillips had to leave, he left his PlayStation and games behind. Green picked Phillips up from Decedent’s house in the late morning or early afternoon on the day of the shooting. He claimed that Phillips was upset because Decedent told him that his PlayStation and games were stolen. Phillips did not understand why Decedent would “play [him] like that.” R. 249, l. 7 – 251, l. 24. Though Green did not represent that Phillips made any threats to the Decedent, the State theorized that the PlayStation served as motive for Phillips to kill Decedent. R. 100, l. 2 – 101, l. 21; R. 557, l. 9 – 558, l. 9.

Donte Jenkins did not speak to police until October 6, 2015, over two years after Decedent’s death. Jenkins claimed that the Decedent’s mother, who died prior to Phillips trial,

asked him to wait to come forward while she conducted her own investigation. R. 271, ll. 20-25; R. 273, ll. 7 – 25. Jenkins said that he was at Decedent's house around dusk on the day of the shooting and let Phillips into the house. According to Jenkins, a Playstation was plugged into the television in the living room and Phillips walked straight past it. He said that when he left at approximately 9:15 p.m., Decedent was at the back of his car, working on a tag light with one car door open, and Phillips was still there. R. 265, l. 19 – 271, l. 15.

Taylor Cowherd testified that she stopped by Decedent's house at 9:26 p.m. on the day of the shooting. Though the porch light was out, Cowherd said she knew Phillips from around town and saw him standing on Decedent's porch. She claimed that he responded when she called him by his nickname "Dee." Decedent came out of the house and gave her ten dollars to take to his brother, who Cowherd was dating at the time. When she left at approximately 9:30 p.m., she said that Phillips was on the porch and Decedent was working on his car. R. 276, l. 1 – 280, l. 4. Cowherd admitted that she was unable to pick Phillips out of a six person photo array⁵ that included Phillips' picture. She excused her failure on the fact that she had only ever seen Phillips wearing glasses and that no one in the photo array was wearing glasses. R. 280, l. 9 – 281, l. 3. Cowherd admitted that she had previously told police that she saw Decedent get in his car and drive away as she was leaving but was unsure if Dee got in the car with him. However, she claimed at trial that Decedent only cranked the car but may have been just checking the tag light. R. 283, l. 6 – 284, l. 21.

⁵ When defense counsel requested a copy of the photo array shown to Cowherd during the pretrial hearing, the solicitor indicated that photo array was destroyed when Cowherd did not make a positive identification. Yet, Investigator McIntosh testified at trial that he provided a copy of the photo array to the solicitor's office. Regardless, the trial judge ruled that the defense could argue that Cowherd was unable to identify Phillips and that the state destroyed the array. He also excluded the evidence that Cowherd "identified" Phillips from a single photograph shown to her after the failed photo array. R. 27, l. 18 – 37, l. 10; R. 354, l. 24 – 355, l. 16. He further granted the defense's request for a spoliation charge. R. 548, l. 10 – 549, l. 5.

According to Shontay "Sunshine" McKeithan, she arrived at Decedent's home at approximately 10:30 p.m. to buy marijuana. She sat outside listening to music and trying to reach Decedent on his cell phone for approximately ten minutes. Davonte Freeman walked up, claiming that he was also there to buy marijuana. They called Decedent's cell phone again and could hear it ringing inside, but he did not answer. After Freeman knocked on the front door twice with no response, he went to the side door and went inside. R. 11, l. 16 – 113, l. 19; see also R. 130, l. 13 – 132, l. 23. While Freeman claimed he was inside for less than one minute, McKeithan said that he was inside for five to seven minutes. When Freeman finally emerged, he was holding a gun and said "Sunshine he dead. You've got to see him, like, he's dead." McKeithan told him to put the gun back and looked in the through the side door, where she immediately saw Decedent's body. R. 112, ll. 11-18; R. 113, ll. 20 – 115, l. 2; R. 122, l. 20 – 125, l. 20.

Freeman can be heard in the background of McKeithan's 911 call giving a false name of "Larry." R. 110, ll. 2-4; R. 116, ll. 18-25; State's Ex. 1 (CD 911 call).⁶ Freeman said he lied about his name because he thought there was a warrant for his arrest. R. 128, l. 16 – 129, l. 13. Freeman admitted that he picked up the gun, explaining that he smelled it "out of curiosity," but denied taking it outside. He claimed that he placed it right back where he found it on Decedent's stomach. R. 133, l. 11 – 134, l. 5; R. 136, ll. 12-25; R. 146, ll. 15-19; R. 148, ll. 11-14. Interestingly, Freeman testified that he resided with his brother, Wrenshad Anderson, in a home just minutes walking-distance from the Decedent's home. R. 146, l. 23 – 147, l. 9. When Freeman was asked if he and his brother had "each other's back," he responded: "Yes, sir. Always. I'm my brother's keeper." R. 147, ll. 17-19.

⁶ State's Ex. 1 (CD 911 call) is on file with this Court.

Almost two and half years after Decedent's death, on September 29, 2015, Anderson came forward as a witness against Phillips. R. 309, ll. 6-11; R. 303, ll. 8-15. Anderson testified that on the night that Decedent died, Anderson got home from a party at 8:30 p.m. after which he walked to the Short Stop BP station. On his way home from the BP he saw Phillips, who "looked like he had something going on" and was fidgeting. He thought Phillips was either reaching for something around his waistline or trying to hide something. Anderson's account of the time when he saw Phillips varied, with him claiming that it was 8:40 p.m., 9:00 p.m., 9:40 p.m., or sometime before the BP closed at 10:00 p.m. He explained that he had gotten "drunk up" at a party beforehand and "didn't have no clock." R. 287, l. 5 – 288, l. 25; R. 291, l. 1 – 295, l. 10; R. 296, ll. 7-20; R. 298, l. 16 – 300, l. 25; R. 302, l. 2 – 303, l. 2; R. 304, ll. 12-24; R. 310, l. 6 – 311, l. 10. Anderson finally admitted: "I don't know what time it was." R. 307, ll. 7-8. Even so, Anderson said that he was sure that the time in his statement was correct because they went over "a time schedule" when he met with the officer and solicitor. R. 303, ll. 3-15.

Regardless, Anderson put himself in the vicinity of Decedent's home at the time he was likely shot. Notably, Paramedic Jessica Horton, who went to the crime scene once police secured it, testified that Decedent's body appeared to have been moved based on the location and pattern of the blood at the scene. She also said that the wounds appeared fresh. R. 175, l. 4 – 179, l. 24. Anderson admitted that the electricity had recently been cut off to the house where he and Freeman resided but claimed that he did not need Decedent's money. R. 296, ll. 24- 25; R. 301, l. 21 – 302, l. 1; R. 306, ll. 1-4. Anderson denied being concerned about rumors that his brother killed Decedent. R. 301, ll. 1-5. Officers failed to obtain a buccal swab from Anderson to use for DNA comparison. R. 362, ll. 5-8.

Though he was unsure of the time, Reginald Green, who had picked Phillips up from Decedent's house earlier in the day, got a call from Phillips later that night. Phillips offered to buy Green five dollars worth of gas if he would come pick him up and take him to the BP station. R. 253, l. 4 – 254, l. 9. Video surveillance showed Phillips buy three beers from the Taylors BP station at 10:43 p.m. While Investigator McIntosh claimed the footage showed Phillips with “a big wad of cash,” such could hardly be determined from the low quality video. R. 347, l. 20 – 348, l. 14; R. 350, l. 20 – 351, l. 11; State's Ex. 54 (DVD of BP surveillance footage). Green admitted that Phillips spent approximately twenty dollars that night but said that Phillips had a regular job at Sea Pines, which could have been the source of his money. He said that Phillips was still upset about his stolen PlayStation and they smoked marijuana that Phillips brought. In total, they spent an hour and a half or so together before Green dropped Phillips off by the Bank of Walterboro before midnight. R. 254, l. 10 – 257, l. 5; R. 262, l. 1 – 263, l. 1; R. 264, ll. 2-6.

Dawn Childers was one of Decedent's girlfriends of approximately three months. Decedent was supposed to come to Beaufort for a pool party on the night that he died. R. 312, l. 18 – 314, l. 1. Childers admitted that she had sent Decedent some “ugly” text messages when she found out that he was seeing other women. R. 318, l. 2 – 319, l. 4. She also admitted that she and a friend of hers, Taurus Maymi, had seen Decedent's money box and that Maymi said that he should have robbed Decedent. R. 319, l. 25 – 320, l. 8.

DNA Evidence

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