ORIGINAL  
RECEIVED

APR 21 2017  
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Jasper County

Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BILLY PHILLIPS,

APPELLANT,

Appellate Case No. 2016-000108

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. ROBERT BOLCHOZ  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MARGARET G. BOYKIN  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 101017  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III  
Solicitor, Fourteenth Circuit  
P.O. Box 1880  
Bluffton, SC 29910  
(843) 255-5880

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

In South Carolina, DNA evidence may be admitted in judicial proceedings in the same manner as other scientific evidence, such as fingerprint analysis and blood tests. *State v. Ford*, 301 S.C. 485, 392 S.E.2d 781 (1990). In order for the evidence to be admissible, the trial judge must find the scientific evidence will assist the trier of fact, the expert witness is qualified, and the underlying science is reliable. *State v. Ramsey*, 345 S.C. 607, 614, 550 S.E.2d 294, 298 (S.C. 2001). Further, even if the evidence is admissible, the trial judge must determine if its probative value is outweighed by its prejudicial effect under Rule 403. Once the evidence is admitted under these standards, the jury may give it such weight as it deems appropriate. *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999).

Likewise, population frequency statistics for DNA test results are admissible. *State v. Register*, 323 S.C. 471, 481, 476 S.E.2d 153, 159 (1996); *State v. Dinkins*, 319 S.C. 415, 418,

462 S.E.2d 59, 60 (1995). In explaining why DNA probability statistics are admissible, the *Dinkins* Court stated:

“[V]igorous cross-examination, presentation of contrary evidence, and careful instruction on the burden of proof are the traditional and appropriate means of attacking shaky but admissible evidence.” *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at ----, 113 S.Ct. at 2798. In this case, the DNA population frequency statistics assist the jury in determining whether appellant was the attacker. The jury should be allowed to make its own determination as to whether it believes the statistics are reliable. The jury is free to believe or disbelieve the experts and the statistics. Therefore, we hold DNA population frequency statistics are admissible.”

319 S.C. at 418, 462 S.E.2d at 60. The Court concluded that DNA population frequency statistics, as with DNA test results, are subject to attack for relevancy and prejudice. *Id.*

Numerous jurisdictions have found statistical probabilities of nonexclusion DNA evidence, even if low, are admissible and relevant. *See e.g. People v. Smith*, 978 N.E.2d 324 (Ill. App. 1st Dist. 2012) (holding that DNA expert testimony that the probability of inclusion for the partial profile on the gun was **1 out of 11** and so defendant could not be excluded from a group of 600 million people as possible contributors to the DNA mixture was properly admitted and the weight of this testimony was a matter for the jury to decide)(emphasis added); *United States v. McCluskey*, 954 F.Supp.2d 1224, 1273 (D.N.M.2013) (holding that nonexclusion DNA matches with random match probabilities of 1:9268, **1:21**, **1:12** admissible and not substantially outweighed by any prejudicial effects)(emphasis added); *State v. Brochu*, 183 Vt. 269, 949 A.2d 1035, 1048–49 (2008) (upheld admission of **1 in 12** match probability where probative value was not outweighed by prejudicial effect)(emphasis added).

The United States Supreme Court in *McDaniel v. Brown*, 558 U.S. 120 (2010) found that DNA statistical probabilities were powerful pieces of inculpatory evidence for a jury to consider. In that case, the State's evidence at Brown's trial reflected essentially "a **1 in 6,500** chance that one brother would match," while the habeas defense expert whittled the figure to as low as "**1 in**

66." *Id.* at 132 (emphasis added). The Supreme Court found "[e]ven under [the habeas defense expert's] odds, a rational jury could consider the DNA evidence to be powerful evidence of guilt." *Id.*

Likewise, the United States District Court for the District of Columbia explained that nonexclusion DNA evidence "remains probative, and helps to corroborate other evidence and support the Government's case as to the identity of the relevant perpetrators." *United States v. Morrow*, 374 F.Supp.2d 51, 65 (D.D.C.2005). In *Morrow*, the court found admissible DNA evidence "ranging from a **1:12** probability of selecting an unrelated individual in the relevant population to a **1:1** probability of selecting an unrelated individual." *Id.* at 62 (emphasis added). The Court emphasized, "[E]xclusion of conclusions based on sound methodology is not the proper course; rather, '[v]igorous cross-examination, presentation of contrary evidence, and careful instruction on the burdens of proof are the traditional and appropriate means of attacking shaky but admissible evidence.'" *Id.* at 64 (quoting *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993)).

Similarly, the Massachusetts Supreme Court has held that low statistical DNA evidence is admissible and relevant. *Commonwealth v. O'Laughlin*, 446 Mass. 188 (2006). In *O'Laughlin*, the Court considered whether DNA evidence was admissible in which "**one in two** of any randomly selected individuals could have been the contributor". *Id.* at 208 (emphasis added). The Court held the DNA evidence was admissible and the probative value of the evidence was for the jury to decide. *Id.* The Court noted, "Evidence is not rendered prejudicial merely because it is inconclusive [and] it is for the jury to determine the probative value to be accorded relevant evidence." *Id.*

Furthermore, while not specifically addressing the issue at hand, the South Carolina Supreme Court has found similar DNA statistical probabilities relevant and probative. *State v. Primus*, 349 S.C. 576, 587, 564 S.E.2d 103, 109 (2002), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 106, 610 S.E.2d 494, 501 (2005). In referring to a statistical probability of **1 in 174**, the Court stated, “[w]hile this probability is not nearly as definitive as that which has been offered in other trials, it is nonetheless highly persuasive, especially when combined with other evidence of [the defendant’s] guilt.” *Id.* at 588 (emphasis added).

Much like the aforementioned cases, the statistical nonexclusion probabilities associated with Appellant’s case are certainly relevant and the probative value is not outweighed by any prejudicial effect. Not only does the evidence validate the State’s theory that Appellant murdered the victim; it also corroborates the testimony from multiple witnesses that place Appellant at the scene of the crime. *Morrow*, 374 F.Supp.2d at 65 (DNA evidence “remains probative, and helps to corroborate other evidence and support the Government’s case as to the identity of the relevant perpetrators.”). Furthermore, the DNA sample taken from the gun supports Appellant’s own statement that he held the gun on the day the victim was killed. (State’s Ex. 58). Moreover, the statistical numbers of **one in two hundred** and **one in two** were not confusing or misleading to the jury because Gallman adequately explained their significance. (R.p. 449, lines 4-17; p. 455, lines 1-3; p. 460, line 21 – p. 461, line 4). Additionally, Appellant was given ample opportunity during cross-examination and closing argument to challenge and rebut the DNA evidence. (R.pp. 453-476; 583-608). In fact, Appellant used cross-examination of Gallman to introduce testimony about DNA that was not attributable to a known standard. From that testimony, Appellant was able to insinuate that someone other than Appellant could have committed the murder. *Daubert*, 113 S.Ct. at 2798 (“[V]igorous cross-examination, presentation of contrary evidence, and careful

instruction on the burden of proof are the traditional and appropriate means of attacking shaky but admissible evidence.”). Moreover, the jury was adequately informed by the trial judge that an expert’s opinion testimony should be given the weight they see fit. Thus, the statistical numbers associated with the two samples were probative factors to be considered by the jury in weighing all of the evidence and testimony at trial. *See O’Laughlin*, 446 Mass. At 208 (“Evidence is not rendered prejudicial merely because it is inconclusive [and] it is for the jury to determine the probative value to be accorded relevant evidence.”); *Smith*, 978 N.E.2d at 346. Accordingly, the trial judge correctly held the statistical probabilities relating to the DNA samples were factual issues for the jury. (R.p. 43, lines 7-12; p. 44, lines 21-24). Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the DNA analyst’s expert testimony regarding two items on which Appellant could not be excluded as a contributor.

In addition to arguing the testimony should be excluded as unfairly prejudicial, Appellant asserts the Assistant Solicitor overstated the evidence in her closing argument. As an initial matter, Appellant’s challenge to the Assistant Solicitor’s closing argument is wholly unpreserved for appellate review. An issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review. *See State v. Walker*, 366 S.C. 643, 660, 623 S.E.2d 122, 130 (Ct.App.2005). “Arguments not raised to or ruled upon by the trial court are not preserved for appellate review.” *State v. Carlson*, 363 S.C. 586, 597, 611 S.E.2d 283, 288 (Ct.App.2005). Appellant posed no objections during or after the Assistant Solicitor’s closing argument. Therefore, Appellant’s challenge to portions of the closing argument is procedurally barred from review. Regardless, Appellant’s argument is without merit.

In presenting a closing argument to the jury, a solicitor—and any other party—must confine the argument to the evidence in the record and the inferences to be drawn from that

evidence. *State v. Tubbs*, 333 S.C. 316, 321, 509 S.E.2d 815, 818 (1999). However, the solicitor is unquestionably permitted in a closing argument to state and discuss the State's version of the testimony, to comment on the weight given to such testimony, and to point out the matters that the jury should and should not consider in arriving at a verdict. *Humphries v. State*, 351 S.C. 362, 373, 570 S.E.2d 160, 166 (2002); see *State v. Durden*, 264 S.C. 86, 92, 212 S.E.2d 587, 590 (1975) (“[The prosecuting attorney] may argue with reference to any matters which the jurors may properly consider in arriving at their verdict, and may point out as well the matters which they should not consider.” (citations omitted)); *Randall v. State*, 356 S.C. 639, 642, 591 S.E.2d 608, 610 (2004) (“A solicitor has a right to state his version of the testimony and to comment on the weight to be given such testimony.”).

Here, the Assistant Solicitor's statements during her closing argument regarding Appellant's DNA being found on the gun and pants pocket were reasonable inferences from all of the evidence presented at trial. Numerous witnesses placed Appellant at the scene of the crime within the time frame that the victim was murdered. After the victim was killed, Appellant was captured on video surveillance carrying a large sum of money that he did not have earlier that day. Moreover, Appellant himself admitted to being at the victim's house on the incident date. Additionally, Appellant admitted to holding the victim's gun the day the victim was murdered. Furthermore, Gallman testified the samples from the gun and right front pocket of the victim's pants contained all sixteen numbers from Appellant's DNA profile. (R.p. 449, lines 12-15; p. 460, line 21; p. 477, lines 12-16). Therefore, when taking the totality of the evidence into consideration, the Assistant Solicitor's remarks were reasonable inferences from the evidence and within the permissible bounds of fair argument.

Additionally, even if the Assistant Solicitor's remarks were to be viewed as improper, there would be no error because the trial judge properly explained the significance of closing arguments to the jury. Before the parties gave their closing arguments, the trial judge instructed the jury that closing arguments should not be considered as evidence. Specifically, the trial judge stated:

"However, this is closing argument and these presentations would be truly argumentative in nature because at this point in time, you have heard all of the evidence and these very fine lawyers will have an opportunity to point to the evidence that supports their relative positions. What they have to say is not evidence."

(R.p. 555, line 23 – p. 556, line 3)(emphasis added). Thus, the jury was well aware that the State's closing argument was not evidence of the case, but rather represented the State's theory of the case based on reasonable inferences from the evidence introduced at trial.

#### **Harmless Error**

Even if this Court were to find an abuse of discretion, any error in admitting the DNA expert testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the jury considered substantial corroborating evidence properly admitted at trial. *See State v. Livingston*, 282 S.C. 1, 6, 317 S.E.2d 129, 132 (1984) (holding an error admitting evidence is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where guilt is proven by other competent evidence, such that the error could not have reasonably affected the verdict); *see also State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 55, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006) ("When guilt is conclusively proven by competent evidence, such that no other rational conclusion could be reached, this Court will not set aside a conviction for insubstantial errors not affecting the result."). In *Baccus*, the Supreme Court found the trial court's error in admitting the DNA to be harmless. 367 S.C. at 56, 625 S.E.2d at 224. As the court indicated, however, the other evidence in the case conclusively proved the defendant guilty.

The State presented the testimony of [the victim's friend] who overheard Appellant tell the victim he was going to kill her and who overheard a pop and clicking sound. Additionally, the State presented evidence that Appellant's fingerprints matched fingerprints on the window sill of the broken window in the victim's bedroom. Also, [a DNA analyst] testified the blood sample collected from Appellant on the night of his arrest matched the blood found on the swabs and cuttings from the door, blind, and sheet in the victim's house. Therefore, the blood evidence drawn pursuant to the court order which should have been excluded was cumulative.

367 S.C. at 55, 625 S.E.2d at 223–24.

Here, Respondent submits any error was harmless. DNA evidence is not generally dispositive in any case; rather, one must look at the whole of the evidence and the particulars of the case. The South Carolina Supreme Court has noted that "the presence or absence of DNA evidence does not taint the remainder of the evidence in the record, nor does it overwhelm the jury's ability to make credibility determinations and decide whether a defendant is guilty." *State v. Jenkins*, 412 S.C. 643, 773 S.E.2d 906 (2015). In the case at hand, the evidence was not crucial to the State's case in the sense that it was not the only evidence placing Appellant at the scene and identifying him as the perpetrator. Testimony from Taylor Cowherd, Donte Jenkins, and Wrenshad Anderson placed Appellant at the crime scene within the timeframe of the murder. (R.p. 271, lines 7-15; p. 273, lines 7-10; p. 280, lines 1-1; p. 292, lines 7-10). The State established Appellant's motive through the testimony of Reginald Green by showing that Appellant was upset with the victim for lying to him about the Playstation video game. (R.p. 250, line 7 – p. 251, line 20). Also, the State was able to establish that Appellant did not have any money or drugs earlier in the afternoon but possessed money and drugs after the victim was killed. (R.p. 252, lines 3-18; p. 254, lines 4-14; p. 255, lines 8-9; p. 345, line 20 - p. 348 line 14). Investigator McIntosh presented evidence of surveillance footage from a local gas station that showed Appellant carrying a large sum of money a short time after the victim was killed. (R.p.

345, line 20 - p. 348 line 14). Furthermore, Appellant admitted to handling the gun that was used to kill the victim. (State's Ex. 58). Thus, when viewing the record as a whole, the additional DNA evidence Appellant would have excluded is merely cumulative.

Accordingly, while Respondent submits the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting Gallman's testimony regarding two DNA samples from which Appellant could not be excluded as a contributor, any alleged error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

### CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the trial court should be affirmed.